RECEIVED

Feb 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Lower Court Case No. 2022-CP-40-05305

George Gallo, Appellant,

v.

Autumnwood Crossing LP and Intermark Management Corporation,
Respondents.

Appellate Case No. 2025-000757

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RUFFIN LAW FIRM
Adam Sinclair Ruffin
SC Bar No. 101350
1320 Main Street, Suite 300
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 470-5629
adam@ruffinappeals.com

CAVANAUGH & THICKENS
Joseph Odell Thickens
SC Bar No. 101398
Stephen F. Krzyston
SC Bar No. 100666
1717 Marion Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 888-2200
joe@ctlawsc.com
steve@ctlawsc.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the Defendants where there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Defendants had notice of the dangerous condition which caused Mr. Gallo's injuries?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting the Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

George Gallo filed a summons and complaint for negligence against Autumnwood Crossing, L.P. and InterMark Management Corporation. The Defendants answered the complaint and filed a joint motion for summary judgment. The circuit court heard arguments on the motion on February 12, 2025. At that hearing, Joe Thickens appeared on behalf of Mr. Gallo, and Damon Wlodarczyk appeared on behalf of Autumnwood Crossing and InterMark. (R. p. 137).

The court granted the Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denied Mr. Gallo's motion to reconsider.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Appellate courts apply the same standard of review applied by the trial court to review the grant of summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” *Williams v. Jeffcoat*, 444 S.C. 224, 233, 906 S.E.2d 588, 593 (2024) (citing *Knight v. Austin*, 396 S.C. 518, 521, 722 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2012)). “Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011).

“When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493-94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002) (citing *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)). “On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008) (citing *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004)).

Summary judgment is not proper “where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co.-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991)). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Nelson v. Charleston Cty. Parks & Rec. Comm’n*, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

George Gallo lived at the Autumnwood Crossing Senior Apartments in Lexington County, which was owned by Defendant Autumnwood Crossing, LP. Defendant InterMark was the property management company for the apartment complex. (R. p. 23). While walking through the hallway, a common area of the apartment complex, Mr. Gallo tripped on a dangerous condition created by improperly maintained or installed carpeting. (R. p. 23). Mr. Gallo sustained significant personal injuries because of his fall. (R. p. 24).

Lease Agreement

Mr. Gallo leased from the Defendants “the apartment known as 306 a 2 bedroom apartment (Premises) located at 207 Topsider Court #306, Lexington, SC, 29072.” (R. p. 93). In referring to “common areas” the lease expressly carved out the Defendants’ exclusive right of control and authority with respect to all common areas. For example, the lease prohibited Mr. Gallo from leaving any personal items in the common areas. (R. p. 97). In fact, the lease prohibited Mr. Gallo from using the common areas for “any purpose other than ingress and egress.” (R. p. 97).

More specifically, the lease prohibited Mr. Gallo from littering or obstructing “the public halls or grounds” and from covering or obstructing the floors, skylights, doors, and windows “that reflect or admit light into passageways, or into the common areas of any of [Defendants’] buildings.” (R. p. 97). The lease also prohibited Mr. Gallo from cleaning anything in the “public halls” or circulating “handbills, circulars, advertisements, papers, or other matter which, if discarded, would tend to litter [common areas].” (R. p. 97). In sum, Mr. Gallo had no control over the common areas; the Defendants had full control over the common areas.

Discovery

In December of 2022, Mr. Gallo issued his initial discovery requests to the Defendants. (R. p. 32). The Defendants did not respond to this request, so Mr. Gallo’s Counsel sent a Rule 11 letter requesting responses. (R. p. 44). The Defendants did not respond to this letter either, forcing Mr. Gallo to file a motion to compel in February of 2023. (R. p. 30). A hearing was scheduled for the motion to compel but was continued because, just prior to the hearing, the Defendants agreed to provide discovery responses according to the terms of a consent order.¹ (R. p. 49).

Despite having agreed to comply with Mr. Gallo’s discovery requests prior to the hearing on the first motion to compel, the Defendants still failed to fully respond. As a result, Mr. Gallo’s Counsel sent another Rule 11 letter in October of 2023. (R. p. 56). When the Defendants still did not fully respond, a second motion to compel was filed in December of 2023. (R. p. 46).

In May of 2024, Defendant Autumnwood’s 30(b)(6) designee was deposed. (R. p. 99). Defendant Autumnwood admitted in its 30(b)(6) deposition that it required regional managers to conduct biannual inspections of the common areas of the apartment complex and to keep written records of those inspections. (R. p. 104, ll. 2 – 20). Autumnwood also admitted in this deposition that the on-site staff were required to do quarterly inspections of the common areas and to keep written records of those inspections. (R. p. 106, l. 4 – p. 107, l. 10).

In light of the revelations made in Autumnwood’s 30(b)(6) deposition, the circuit court issued a consent order finding that “Defendant Autumnwood testified in depositions as to the existence of the materials which have been sought by [Mr. Gallo] and which are listed below.” (R. p. 16). The order listed several specific items that the Defendants were required to produce within thirty days, including “[a]ny and all inspection, records or other material which relates to

¹ This consent order was never filed.

inspection of the common areas and hallways for the preceding five years up to and including the subject incident.” (R. p. 17). The circuit court ordered Autumnwood to produce all the items listed in the order within thirty days. (R. p. 18).

Despite the circuit court’s order, the Defendants still failed to produce all their inspection reports. (R. pp. 113 – 125). The Defendants did not offer an explanation as to why they failed to produce all of their quarterly and bi-annual inspection reports despite admitting in their 30(b)(6) deposition to the existence of those documents. (R. pp. 117 – 125).

Summary Judgment Arguments and Rulings

The Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment arguing that the South Carolina Residential Landlord and Tenant Act—found in Title 27, Chapter 40 of the South Carolina Code—provided the exclusive avenue under which a tenant can recover damages from his landlord. The Defendants further argued that the Act requires a tenant to give notice to his landlord of any alleged dangerous condition upon the property before the tenant can sue the landlord for damages caused by the dangerous condition. (R. p. 59). In their motion for summary judgment, the Defendants acknowledged that the Act requires them to “keep all common areas” in a “reasonably safe” and “reasonably clean” condition. (R. p. 62). The Defendants also acknowledged that the dangerous carpet ripple was visible in the photograph taken by Mr. Gallo after his fall. (R. p. 60).

Mr. Gallo was admittedly unaware of the dangerous carpet ripple in the common area until after he tripped and fell on it. Because Mr. Gallo was unaware of the dangerous condition, he had not notified the Defendants of the condition. The Defendants relied on this Court’s decision in *Robinson v. Code*, 682 S.E.2d 495 (Ct. App. 2009), to argue that Mr. Gallo’s failure to discover, and thereby failure to notify them of the dangerous condition, precluded his ability to recover damages for the injuries he sustained as a result of the dangerous condition. (R. pp. 62 – 63). The

Defendants also pointed to our Supreme Court's decision in *Clea v. Odom*, 714 S.E.2d 542, 546 (2011), to support their argument that a tenant is required to provide written notice of a dangerous condition to his landlord before he is able to sue under the Act even when the dangerous condition is in a common area over which the tenant has zero control. (R. p. 63).

At the summary judgment hearing, Counsel for the Defendants acknowledged that Mr. Gallo tripped and fell on an "area of the carpet that had buckled" which was in a common area of the apartment complex. (R. p. 139, ll. 15 – 25). Counsel further acknowledged that at the time of the fall, Mr. Gallo was recovering from right leg surgery and that the fall caused significant injuries to Mr. Gallo's left leg. (R. p. 139, l. 25 – p. 140, l. 3).

Counsel for the Defendants maintained that the deposition testimony from each of the witnesses indicated that nobody was aware of the dangerous carpet ripple until after Mr. Gallo's fall. Specifically, Mr. Gallo, the manager of the property, Renee, and the maintenance worker, Luis, all testified in their depositions that they were unaware of the carpet ripple and that no one had mentioned it before Mr. Gallo's fall. (R. p. 140, ll. 4 – 21). Counsel argued that there was no evidence that the Defendants had prior knowledge of the carpet ripple, and that no written notice was given to them of the carpet ripple. As such, Counsel argued that the Defendants were entitled to summary judgment under the Residential Landlord and Tenant Act. (R. p. 141, l. 11 – p. 143, l. 20).

Counsel for Mr. Gallo pointed out that Autumnwood admitted in its 30(b)(6) deposition that it required regional managers to conduct biannual inspections of the common areas of the apartment complex and to keep written records of those inspections. (R. p. 145, ll. 5 – 22; R. p. 104, ll. 2 – 20). Counsel also pointed out that the Defendants had failed to produce the written records of these inspections, even though they had been ordered to do so during discovery. (R. p.

145, ll. 5 – 22). Additionally, the on-site staff at the apartment complex were required to do quarterly inspections of the common areas to check for safety hazards and to keep written records of those inspections. (R. p. 145, l. 23 – p. 146, l. 4; R. p. 106, l. 4 – p. 107, l. 10). The Defendants also failed to produce these written records during discovery, even though they had been ordered to. (R. p. 145, l. 23 – p. 146, l. 4).

The 30(b)(6) designee for the Defendants acknowledged in her deposition that the inspections of the common areas were required for the purpose of keeping their residents safe. (R. p. 146, ll. 5 – 16). Despite a consent order requiring the Defendants to turn over “any and all inspection records or other material which relates to inspection of the common area and hallways for the preceding five years, up to and including the subject incident,” the Defendants had failed to provide all these inspection reports. (R. p. 147, ll. 5 – 17).

Counsel for Mr. Gallo sent a spoliation letter to the Defendants in July of 2022, just ten days after Mr. Gallo’s fall. After the Defendants failed to respond to that letter, Counsel sent another spoliation letter in September of 2022. The Defendants 30(b)(6) designee admitted that the Defendants received the spoliation letter on September 15, 2022, but instead of preserving the carpet as it was, the carpet was repaired on September 22, 2022. (R. p. 147, l. 23 – p. 148, l. 13). Because the Defendants repaired the carpet before Counsel was able to physically inspect it, Counsel was deprived of the opportunity to examine the carpet.

Counsel for Mr. Gallo argued that the Defendants undertook a duty to inspect the common areas for safety hazards and then failed to produce their records after having been ordered to do so. This spoliation of evidence was enough to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Defendants had actual notice of the dangerous carpet ripple. R. p. 149, l. 4 – p. 150, l. 8).

Counsel for the Defendants responded by claiming that “there [were] no documents destroyed,” and that after multiple motions to compel, the Defendants gave Mr. Gallo “every policy and procedure, including the petty change drawer policy. . . . everything has been provided.” (R. p. 153, ll. 14 – 20). Counsel for the Defendants did not acknowledge their failure to produce the inspection reports that their 30(b)(6) designee said they had. Counsel sought to minimize the fact that the Defendants repaired the carpet after receiving the spoliation letter and prior to allowing Counsel for Mr. Gallo to inspect the carpet by saying that “[t]he fix was he took a knife, cut it open, put a little glue underneath it, and then weighted it down to seal it.” (R. p. 152, ll. 23 – 24). Defendants’ Counsel maintained that the Act was not strictly complied with because Mr. Gallo had not given notice to the Defendants of the dangerous condition which entitled the Defendants to summary judgment. (R. p. 153, l. 11 – p. 154, l. 10).

The circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of the Defendants because Mr. Gallo nor anyone else had given notice of the dangerous carpet ripple to the Defendants prior to Mr. Gallo’s fall. In its order granting summary judgment, the circuit court did not address Mr. Gallo’s argument that the spoliation of evidence created a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Defendants had actual knowledge of the dangerous carpet ripple. Order granting summary judgment.

Counsel for Mr. Gallo filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure urging the circuit court to rule on his argument that the Defendants’ spoliation of evidence created an inference that the Defendants had actual knowledge of the dangerous carpet ripple. (R. pp. 81 – 83). Counsel again pointed to the 30(b)(6) deposition of the Defendants in which they admitted that they repaired the carpet ripple after receiving a spoliation letter requesting to inspect it and that its employees conducted both quarterly and bi-

annual inspections of the common areas and kept written records of those inspections. (R. pp. 81 – 83). Despite their admission to keeping written records of these inspections, and despite being ordered to produce these records, the Defendants only produced one inspection report which was conducted after Mr. Gallo's fall. (R. pp. 81 – 83).

Counsel for Mr. Gallo argued that the Defendants' spoliation of evidence would permit a jury to draw an inference that the records the Defendants failed to produce would have been unfavorable to them. Taking this evidentiary inference into consideration at the summary judgment stage, the granting of summary judgment was improper. (R. pp. 81 – 83).

The circuit court denied Mr. Gallo's motion to reconsider without a hearing and again without specifically ruling on the spoliation argument. Order denying motion to reconsider.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the Defendants because there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Defendants had notice of the dangerous condition which caused Mr. Gallo's injuries.

A. A tenant is not required to give written notice of a dangerous condition in a common area to his landlord before being allowed to sue for personal injuries under the Act where there is evidence that could support a finding that the landlord had actual notice of the dangerous condition.

In *Watson v. Sellers*, this Court considered whether a landlord's breach of the Residential Landlord and Tenant Act gives rise to a tort action for personal injuries. 299 S.C. 426, 427, 385 S.E.2d 369, 369-70 (Ct. App. 1989) (citing S.C. Code § 27-40-10, et seq.). Prior to the adoption of the Act, there was no duty on a landlord to "keep in repair leased residential premises under the control of the tenant." *Watson*, 299 S.C. at 433, 385 S.E.2d at 372 (citing *Conner v. Farmers and Merchants Bank*, 243 S.C. 132, 132 S.E.2d 385 (1963)). However, this Court found that the Act "clearly convey[s] an intent on the part of the Legislature to provide for a cause of action for injuries resulting from the failure of the landlord, after notice, to keep rented residential premises in repair." *Id.* at 436, 385 S.E.2d at 374. This Court pointed to several specific provisions of the Act in coming to this conclusion:

[T]he preamble to the Act expressly states that it was the intent of the Legislature to provide for the obligations and liabilities of the landlord; by Section 27-40-50, the Legislature provided, inter alia, that the liability of the landlord may be enforced by legal proceedings. And finally, Section 27-40-610 provides that the tenant may recover actual damages and, if the landlord's noncompliance is wilful, the tenant may recover reasonable attorney fees. These provisions in plain words reflect the intent of the Legislature to create a cause of action in favor of the tenant and against the landlord for failure, after notice, to keep in good repair.

Id.

The facts underlying this Court’s decision in *Watson* were that a landlord provided a set of wooden steps so that her tenant could access her trailer. The stairs collapsed under the tenant causing her serious personal injuries. *Id.* at 427, 385 S.E.2d at 370. The tenant had asked the landlord to check on the steps prior to her injury and the landlord hired a woman named Rufus to replace one of the steps. *Id.* at 428, 385 S.E.2d at 370. The landlord testified that she checked the stairs approximately two months prior to the tenant’s fall and that the stairs seemed to be “fine” and “solid.” The landlord further testified that the tenant “nor anybody else had brought any problem with the stairs to her attention prior to [the tenant’s] fall.” *Id.* at 429, 385 S.E.2d at 370.

The trial judge in *Watson* quoted the language from section 27-40-440(a)(2) in his instruction to the jury telling them that “if the landlord does attempt to make repairs but the repairs are done in a negligent fashion, then the landlord is also liable for anyone injured as a result of the negligent repairs undertaken by the landlord.” *Id.* at 430, 385 S.E.2d at 371. In upholding the trial judge’s instruction, this Court found that (1) tenants are members of a class which the Act was designed to protect, (2) the Act explicitly created a cause of action in tort against a landlord who fails to repair a defect after notice is given, and (3) this conclusion was “consistent with the expressed and underlying purposes of the legislative scheme to create a remedy for residential tenants in cases such as this one.” *Id.* at 436-37, 385 S.E.2d at 375.

This Court subsequently considered whether notice was an element of a landlord’s liability under the Act in *Robinson v. Code*, 384 S.C. 582, 584, 682 S.E.2d 495, 496 (Ct. App. 2009)—a case involving a landlord’s failure to install smoke detectors *inside of leased premises*. In *Robinson*, an upholstered chair caught fire in a single-family rental home causing injuries to the plaintiff and death to two of her family members. *Id.* at 584-85, 682 S.E.2d at 496. The plaintiff sued the landlord, alleging that the landlord was negligent for failing to supply and install smoke

detectors within the leased premises. *Id.* The circuit court granted the landlord’s motion to strike the plaintiff’s causes of action regarding the smoke detectors because the plaintiff did not allege she had given notice to the landlord of the missing smoke detectors. This Court affirmed.

In upholding the circuit court’s ruling, this Court found that, although the Act requires a landlord to comply with applicable housing codes materially affecting health and safety and to “make all repairs and do whatever is reasonably necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition,” the tenant’s right to bring an action against the landlord for breaching his obligations under the Act “do not arise until he has given notice to the landlord and the landlord fails to act within a reasonable time.” *Id.*

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