RECEIVED

Feb 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2025-000757

George Gallo,.....Appellant,

v.

Autumnwood Crossing LP and Intermark Management Corporation,....Respondents,

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

HOWSER, NEWMAN & BESLEY, LLC

Damon C. Wlodarczyk
SC Bar No. 70460
1508 Washington Street
Post Office Box 12009 (29211)
Columbia, South Carolina, 29201
Office (803) 758-6000
Fax (803) 758-4445
E-mail damonw@hnblaw.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

I. TENANT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH RULE 56, SCRCP, BY NOT PROVIDING ANY AFFIDAVITS OR OTHER EVIDENCE PRIOR TO OR AT THE MOTION HEARING AND DID NOT SEEK LEAVE TO SUBMIT ANY DOCUMENTS PRIOR TO THE CIRCUIT COURT’S ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS ENTERED AND, THEREFORE, CERTAIN ARGUMENTS NOW PRESENTED AND THE DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED WITH THE RULE 59(e) MOTION CANNOT BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT.

It is well established in South Carolina that a Rule 59(e) motion cannot be used as a vehicle to introduce new arguments or new evidence, including documents, that a party could have presented to the court prior to judgment but did not. *Spreeuw v. Barker*, 385 S.C. 45, 68-69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding this Court could not consider on appeal a document that was submitted to hearing judge only as an attachment to a Rule 59(e) motion) citing *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990) (“A party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.”); *see also Viviano v. Jeffers*, No. 6120, 2025 S.C. App. LEXIS 53, at *9 (Ct. App. Aug. 20, 2025) (concluding the circuit court properly declined to address materials first provided in the Rule 59(e) motion]; *Brailsford v. Brailsford*, 380 S.C. 443, 448, 669 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding issue is not preserved for appeal where it was never presented to the circuit court prior to

the filing of the motion to alter or amend); *Eaddy v. Oliver*, 345 S.C. 39, 44, 545 S.E.2d 830, 833 (Ct. App. 2001) (a party cannot for the first time raise an issue by way of a Rule 59(e) motion which could have been raised at circuit).

At the summary judgment hearing, Tenant's counsel orally presented three (3) arguments to the circuit court: (1) Tenant argued he pleaded the case under common law negligence and not pursuant to the S.C. Residential Landlord Tenant Act (hereinafter the RLTA") [R. p. 144, line 11-p. 145, line 4]; (2) whether Landlord inspected the property and maintained records of those inspections based upon the deposition testimony of Landlord's 30(b)(6) witness [R. p. 145, line 5-p. 147, line 22]; and (3) Landlord repaired the issue complained of prior to Tenant's counsel being able to inspect the area pursuant to a spoliation letter. [R. p. 147, line 23-p. 151, line 13].

Tenant's first argument will be addressed in a separate section.

Tenant's second argument is not supported by any evidence presented to the circuit judge prior to the filing of the Order granting summary judgment. Tenant did not file or otherwise submit to the circuit court or ask to submit to the circuit court for consideration after the hearing, any portion of Landlord's 30(b)(6) deposition argued at the hearing. No discovery requests or discovery responses were filed or otherwise submitted to the circuit court, and Tenant did not seek leave to submit said documents to the circuit court for consideration.

Based upon Tenant's failure to submit any evidence to support his arguments prior to the summary judgment Order being issued, only counsel's arguments were presented for the circuit court's consideration. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly granted Landlord's Motion for Summary Judgment as the non-moving party may not circumvent the grant of summary judgment through the argument of

counsel alone. *See Ex Parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649 (2006) (“It is well established that counsel's statements regarding the facts of a case and counsel's arguments are not admissible evidence.”); *McManus v. Bank of Greenwood*, 171 S.C. 84, 89, 171 S.E. 473, 475 (1933) (appellate courts repeatedly have held “that statements of fact appearing only in arguments of counsel will not be considered”); *South Carolina Dep’t of Transp. v. Thompson*, 357 S.C. 101, 105, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[a]rguments made by counsel are not evidence”); *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 403 S.E.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Arguments of counsel are also not evidence.”); *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 348 S.E.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1986) (the circuit court properly disregarded the statements of counsel that he claimed reflected testimony appearing in depositions not otherwise entered into evidence).

Tenant’s third argument is not supported by any evidence presented to the circuit judge prior to the filing of the Order granting summary judgment. Tenant did not file or otherwise submit to the circuit court or ask to submit to the circuit court for consideration after the hearing, any spoliation letter, affidavit of counsel, or any portion of Landlord’s 30(b)(6) deposition argued at the hearing. No discovery requests or discovery responses were filed or otherwise submitted to the circuit court, and Tenant did not seek leave to submit said documents to the circuit court for consideration.

Based upon Tenant’s failure to submit any evidence to support his arguments prior to the summary judgment Order being issued, only counsel’s arguments were presented for the circuit court’s consideration. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly granted Landlord’s Motion for Summary Judgment as the non-moving party may not circumvent the grant of summary judgment through the argument of

counsel alone. *Id.* Accordingly, the Order granting Landlord summary judgment should be affirmed.

Turning to Tenant's arguments in its brief, Tenant argues the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment due to Landlord's alleged failure to disclose written records of its inspections of the common areas, thereby inferring Landlord had actual knowledge of the condition complained of. [App. Brief, pp. 17-21]. Tenant's argument is based solely on evidence not presented to the circuit judge, but only on the arguments of counsel at the hearing. [App. Brief, pp. 17, 24].

As set forth in detail above, Tenant's failure to submit any evidence to support his arguments prior to the summary judgment Order being issued, only counsel's arguments were presented for the circuit court's consideration. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly granted Landlord's Motion for Summary Judgment as the non-moving party may not circumvent the grant of summary judgment through the argument of counsel alone. *Id.* Therefore, the Order granting Landlord summary judgment should be affirmed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED LANDLORD'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE WAS NO NOTICE OF THE CONDITION COMPLAINED OF.

Tenant contends the circuit court erred in granting Landlord summary judgment as there is no requirement for a tenant to provide written notice of a dangerous condition in a common area pursuant to the RLTA. [App. Brief, pp. 11-17].

A. Tenant's argument is not preserved for appellate review.

As an initial matter, Tenant's arguments were not presented to the circuit court prior to the Order granting summary judgment and, therefore, the argument is not preserved for appellate review.

As evidenced from the motion hearing transcript, Tenant's only arguments as to the RLTA is that a "landlord can be liable where they have actual notice and failed to remedy the situation." [R. p. 151, lines 14-19]. Again, Tenant's arguments were not supported by any evidence as discussed above.

At no time did Tenant make any arguments concerning whether the RLTA requires written notice of a condition complained of. The first time this argument was raised is in Tenant's Motion to Reconsider. [R. pp. 88-89]. Accordingly, the argument now raised is not preserved for appellate review. *Brailsford*, 380 S.C. at 448, 669 S.E.2d at 345 (holding issue is not preserved for appeal where it was never presented to the circuit court prior to the filing of the motion to alter or amend); *Oliver*, 345 S.C. at 44, 545 S.E.2d at 833 (a party cannot for the first time raise an issue by way of a Rule 59(e) motion which could have been raised at circuit). Therefore, the Order granting Landlord summary judgment should be affirmed.

B. Tenant's argument fails on the merits.

"Traditionally, under the law of South Carolina, a landlord owes no duty to maintain leased premises in a safe condition. Absent an express warranty or fraudulent concealment, he is not liable for any defect in the leased premises." *Young v. Morrissey*, 285 S.C. 236, 239, 329 S.E.2d 426, 428 (1985).

In 1986, South Carolina enacted the RLTA as set forth in Title 27, Chapter 40 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. S.C. Code § 27-40-10 *et. seq.*

The RLTA specifically sets for the following obligations for a landlord concerning maintaining the rented property:

- (a) A landlord shall:

(1) comply with the requirements of applicable building and housing codes materially affecting health and safety;

(2) make all repairs and do whatever is reasonably necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition;

(3) ***keep all common areas of the premises in a reasonably safe condition***, and, for premises containing more than four dwelling units, keep in a reasonably clean condition;

(4) make available running water and reasonable amounts of hot water at all times and reasonable heat except where the building that includes the dwelling unit is not required by law to be equipped for that purpose, or the dwelling unit is so constructed that heat or hot water is generated by an installation within the exclusive control of the tenant and supplied by a direct public utility connection;

(5) maintain in reasonably good and safe working order and condition all electrical, gas, plumbing, sanitary, heating, ventilating, air conditioning, and other facilities and appliances, including elevators, supplied or required to be supplied by him. Appliances present in the dwelling unit are presumed to be supplied by the landlord unless specifically excluded by the rental agreement. No appliances or facilities necessary to the provision of essential services may be excluded.

S.C. Code § 27-40-440 (emphasis added).

The RLTA provides the following remedies for the tenant under S.C. Code § 27-40-610 for a landlord's noncompliance in general:

(a) Except as provided in this chapter, if there is a material noncompliance by the landlord with the rental agreement or a noncompliance with § 27-40-440 materially affecting health and safety or the physical condition of the property, the tenant may deliver a written notice to the landlord specifying the acts and omissions constituting the breach and that the rental agreement will terminate upon a date not less than fourteen days after receipt of the notice if the breach is not remedied within fourteen days. The rental agreement shall terminate as provided in the notice except that:

(1) The rental agreement shall not terminate by reason of the breach:

(i) if the breach is remedied by repairs or otherwise and the landlord adequately remedies the breach before the date specified in the notice; or

(ii) if such remedy for a breach not affecting health and safety cannot be remedied within fourteen days, but is commenced within the fourteen-day period and is pursued in good faith to completion within a reasonable time.

(2) The tenant may not terminate for a condition caused by the deliberate or negligent act or omission of the tenant, a member of his family, or other person on the premises with the tenant's permission or who is allowed access to the premises by the tenant.

(b) Except as provided in this chapter, the tenant may recover actual damages and obtain injunctive relief in a magistrate's or circuit court, without posting bond, for any noncompliance by the landlord with the rental agreement or § 27-40-440. If the landlord's noncompliance is wilful, the tenant may recover reasonable attorney's fees.

S.C. Code § 27-40-610.

Finally, the RLTA defines what constitutes "notice" as used in the statute:

(a) Except as provided in this chapter, if there is a material noncompliance by the landlord with the rental agreement or a noncompliance with § 27-40-440 materially affecting health and safety or the physical condition of the property, the tenant may deliver a written notice to the landlord specifying the acts and omissions constituting the breach and that the rental agreement will terminate upon a date not less than fourteen days after receipt of the notice if the breach is not remedied within fourteen days. The rental agreement shall terminate as provided in the notice except that:

(1) The rental agreement shall not terminate by reason of the breach:

(i) if the breach is remedial by repairs or otherwise and the landlord adequately remedies the breach before the date specified in the notice; or

(ii) if such remedy for a breach not affecting health and safety cannot be remedied within fourteen days, but is commenced within the fourteen-day period and is pursued in good faith to completion within a reasonable time.

(2) The tenant may not terminate for a condition caused by the deliberate or negligent act or omission of the tenant, a member of his family, or other person on the premises with the tenant's permission or who is allowed access to the premises by the tenant.

(b) Except as provided in this chapter, the tenant may recover actual damages and obtain injunctive relief in a magistrate's or circuit court, without posting bond, for any noncompliance by the landlord with the rental agreement or § 27-40-440. If the landlord's noncompliance is wilful, the tenant may recover reasonable attorney's fees.

S.C. Code § 27-40-240.

In *Watson v. Sellers*, the Court of Appeals first addressed whether the RLTA, which was then recently enacted, provided for a private cause of action in tort for the breach of duty owed by a landlord to a tenant. The *Watson* court set forth the following holdings:

We conclude, therefore, that the General Assembly of South Carolina directed this court by Section 27-40-20 to implement its intent to modernize and revise the law governing the rental of dwelling units and the rights and obligations of landlords and tenants by enforcing the RLTA in cases such as the one presently before this court. We therefore reject Sellers' contention that the Legislature did not intend to abrogate the existing law on this subject. It was the intent of the Legislature to cause the law of this state to be consonant with the modern trend as set forth above; and we so hold.

Next, and with reference to the intent of the Legislature, we hold that the preamble and the Act clearly convey an intent on the part of the Legislature to provide for a cause of action for injuries resulting from the failure of the landlord, *after notice*, to keep rented residential premises in repair. As noted it was the intent of the Legislature to modernize landlord and tenant law; the preamble to the Act expressly states that it was the intent of the Legislature to provide for the obligations and liabilities of the landlord; by Section 27-40-50, the Legislature provided, *inter alia*, that the liability of the landlord may be enforced by legal proceedings. And finally, Section 27-40-610 provides that the tenant may recover actual damages and, if the landlord's noncompliance is wilful, the tenant may recover reasonable attorney fees. These provisions in plain words reflect the intent of the Legislature to create a cause of action in favor of the tenant and against the landlord for failure, after notice, to keep in good repair.

Watson v. Sellers, 299 S.C. 426, 436, 385 S.E.2d 369, 374 (Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis added).

It is important to note that the *Watson* court and courts subsequently addressing the RLTA and "notice" refer to the "premises." The RLTA defines "premises" as "a dwelling unit and the structure of which it is a part and facilities and appurtenances therein and grounds, areas, and facilities held out for the use of tenants generally or whose

use is promised to the tenant.” S.C. Code. § 27-40-210(10). Accordingly, premises would include the area at issue in this case, a common area hallway.

The notice requirement of the RLTA was next addressed in *Robinson v. Code*. In *Robinson*, a case involving in part an argument that the circuit erred in finding “notice was an element of a landlord’s liability for failing to maintain a rental premises[,]” the Court of Appeals concluded for a second time that the RLTA creates a cause of action for a tenant of residential property against the landlord, “for failure, ***after notice***, to make necessary repairs and to do what is reasonably necessary to keep the premises in a habitable condition.”² *Robinson v. Code*, 384 S.C. 582, 586, 682 S.E.2d 495, 497 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added).

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